STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 07 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL ORLANDO BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001715

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's alleged offer to plead guilty where the probative value of the statement was outweighed by the undue prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE?

- II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's alleged statement that "DNA will convict me" and alleged offer to plead guilty where such statements were made after Appellant had invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and right to counsel?

- III. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict where there was no direct evidence of his guilt and the circumstantial evidence against him was not substantial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 9, 2014, Appellant Michael Orlando Brown was indicted by the Richland County grand jury for the offense of attempted armed robbery. R. 349 (Indictment).

On August 4-5, 2014, Brown proceeded to trial before the Honorable James R. Barber and a jury. Brown was represented by Anastasia Walker and Alicia Dyar Goode. The State was represented by Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and Sandra Moser. R. 1.

The jury found Brown guilty as charged. R. 340, ll. 9-19. He was sentenced to the mandatory sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole based on his prior convictions. R. 348, ll. 12-16.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background

The allegation against Brown is that he attempted to rob a Chuck E. Cheese restaurant in Columbia on January 3, 2013. R. 349 (Indictment). Surveillance footage shows an African-American enter the establishment at 9:38:29 p.m. and exit at 9:38:56 p.m. The individual was wearing a wig, a red bandana around their neck, dark clothes, and white tennis shoes. While not clearly visible, the individual appears to be wearing glasses and a ring on their left ring finger. State's Ex. 9 (DVD of Surveillance Video).¹ There were no patrons in the restaurant at the time of the offense, but there were four employees inside – Kadeshia Green, Kyrie Green, Ronnie Kennedy-Martin, and a kitchen worker named Anna.² R. 143, ll. 11-12. A police dog allegedly tracked a scent from the Chuck E. Cheese entrance to an area behind the nearby El Toro restaurant, where a wig and bandana were located. R. 113, l. 6 – 116, l. 16. The wig and bandana were both tested for DNA. Though no DNA was found on the wig, Brown's DNA was allegedly found as the major contributor on the bandana. R. 253, l. 18 -254, l. 12; R. 258, l. 17 – 259, l. 18.

Despite the presence of two other individuals' DNA on the bandana, Brown was arrested on March 14, 2013. R. 257, l. 13 – 258, l. 7; R. 217, ll. 22-23. Brown executed an Advice of Rights form and was questioned by Investigator Robert Martin. State's Ex. 1 (Written Waiver of Rights Form). Pre-trial, Brown moved to suppress a portion of the statement allegedly made by him to Investigator Martin. Specifically, Brown sought to

¹ This Exhibit is on file with the Court.

² Kadeshia Green and Kyrie Green are not related. R. 143, ll. 15-18. For ease of reference, they are referred to by their first names in Appellant's brief.

exclude his alleged statements offering to plead guilty and his alleged statement “DNA will convict me.” R. 41, l. 23 – 47, l. 23; R. 49, l. 7 – 50, l. 16; R. 51, l. 17 – 58, l. 11.

Suppression Hearing and Trial Court’s Rulings

Investigator Martin was the investigator assigned to the Chuck E. Cheese incident. R. 27, ll. 12-22. As part of his investigation he interviewed Brown after his arrest. R. 27, l. 23 – 28, l. 4. Martin said that he went over written Miranda³ warnings with Brown and then began to ask him questions about the incident. R. 28, ll. 4-24. After asking Brown some “background” questions regarding his education and physical condition, Martin read each Miranda right to Brown and Brown signed an acknowledgment of rights. R. 29, l. 3 – 31, l. 18. Martin then read the waiver of rights, which Brown signed. R. 31, ll. 19 – 32, l. 24. Notably, despite there being two lines for witnesses to execute, only Martin witnessed the advisement and waiver. See State’s Ex. 1 (Written Waiver of Rights Form).

On direct examination, Martin testified that he discussed with Brown “what he was charged with and how he came to that charge, because his DNA was left behind at the scene.” R. 33, ll. 11-15. When asked if he had ever been to the Chuck E. Cheese, Brown said he attended a party there in 2011 or 2012 for a relative of his girlfriend, Judy Castro, and that he had not been in that area since then. R. 33, ll. 16-20; R. 34, ll. 1-5. He denied having ever worn a wig and told Martin that he could not explain why his DNA would have been found at the scene.⁴ R. 33, ll. 21-25. Martin said that Brown refused to provide a DNA sample and said “it [DNA] would convict [me].” R. 34, ll. 6-14. According to

³ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966).

⁴ Significantly, Brown’s DNA was not found at the scene. Rather, it was found on a portable object – a red bandana – that was allegedly used in the attempted robbery.

Martin, Brown “didn’t really deny the evidence.” R. 34, ll. 19. Rather, Brown allegedly said that he would not challenge the DNA and that “he knew DNA would be enough to convict him.” R. 34, ll. 19-22. Martin also alleged that Brown asked if he could be charged with a less serious charge because he “knew that this carried the possibility of life.”⁵ R. 34, l. 23 – 35, l. 1. Martin testified that Brown eventually indicated that he did not want to talk about his case anymore. He was then allowed to use Martin’s office phone to call Castro. R. 35, l. 18 – 36, l. 1.

The only recordation of the interview was in the form of Martin’s sparse interview notes. R. 36, l. 22 – 38, l. 8. He was not sure how long the interview with Brown lasted. R. 36, ll. 13-21; R. 38, l. 20. He was also unable to recall when in the interview that he made the request for a DNA sample, but said it was “either during or at the end.” R. 37, ll. 10-15. When asked about it again, he repeated that he “[did not] remember if it was during or at the end or before he made the phone call.” R. 40, l. 25 – 41, l. 4.

Martin testified that in conjunction with his request to be charged with something less serious, Brown “said he wanted a plea in this case.” R. 40, ll. 3-5. That was the only reference that Martin made discussion of a “plea” during his testimony at the suppression hearing. He admitted that his notes indicate that when he asked Brown for a DNA sample, “he declined until he had spoken to an attorney.” R. 37, ll. 16-22. He further admitted that

⁵ Brown was indicted for attempted armed robbery, which carries a potential penalty of zero to twenty years rather than the ten to thirty years carried for robbery. R. 349 (Indictment); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330. However, both offenses qualify as “most serious offenses” for the purposes of the sentencing enhancement statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. It is that discretionary provision, combined with Appellant’s prior convictions that made him *eligible* for life without the possibility of parole. The written notice of intention to seek a life sentence under the enhancement statute was filed in Appellant’s case on or about June 25, 2014.

his notes do not mention Brown's alleged statement that he would not give his DNA because it would convict him. R. 37, ll. 23-25. The telephone call to Castro was made "on a recorded line," but Martin did not know whether it was "actually captured or recorded." R. 38, ll. 11-15. However, he was sitting with Brown when the call was made, so he heard his side of the conversation, where he told Castro that he did not commit the crime and was being framed. R. 38, ll. 16-17; R. 40, ll. 6-21. Afterward, he "attempted to explore that avenue" by asking Brown who would frame him, but Brown did not give him any information. R. 40, ll. 13-19.

Trial counsel argued that Martin was unable to confirm how long the interview was or when in the interview Brown declined to give his DNA. This was important because the refusal to give DNA was coupled with a statement that he wanted to speak with an attorney first. Thus, any further questioning of Brown was in violation of his right to counsel. R. 41, l. 23 – 42, l. 17. The solicitor argued that investigator Martin testified that he stopped the interrogation once Brown stated that he was not going to give DNA until he talked to an attorney. R. 42, l. 18-24.

The trial judge found that there is no question that Brown made a statement. The disagreement is over the content of the statement. R. 42, l. 25 – 43, l. 5. He found that the statement was made voluntarily after Brown was advised of his rights and made a knowing waiver of those rights. R. 43, ll. 6-16. However, the trial judge said that he had some concerns. R. 43, l. 17. He noted that Martin testified that Brown made a statement "I'm not going to give a DNA sample, because it would convict me." He found that Martin further testified that when the defendant chose to exercise his right to remain silent, the interview stopped. The trial judge said that he would take that to mean that Brown first made the

statement that he was not going to give DNA because it would convict him and then at some point later said I need to talk to an attorney, which is when the questioning stopped. The judge asked the solicitor if they State was intending to elicit testimony that Brown was facing life in prison, which was connected to some of the reasons for the alleged statements. They responded that they were not, and the judge responded that he was “not having any of that,” i.e. that the jury could not be made aware of the potential life sentence that Brown faced if convicted. R. 43, l. 17 – R. 44, l. 10. Additionally, the trial judge ruled that the State was not allowed to reference Brown’s refusal to provide a DNA sample. R. 44, l. 10 – 45, l. 19. However, he was “sort of inclined to maybe” admit the portion of Brown’s alleged statement where he said that DNA would convict him, even though it was said in combination with his refusal to provide a DNA sample. R. 45, l. 22 – 47, l. 23.

Defense counsel also argued for exclusion of Brown’s alleged offer to plead guilty. The judge initially instructed the State that it was not allowed to elicit the fact that Brown offered to plead guilty. R. 49, ll. 7-14. The solicitor responded that the statement was not a part of any formal plea negotiation between his attorney and the solicitor’s office or in response to any prompting by the investigator. R. 49, l. 15 – 50, l. 1. After the judge indicated that he would “think about it,” defense counsel responded that in addition to inadmissibility as a part of plea negotiations, the statement was more prejudicial than probative and did not amount to a confession. R. 50, ll. 2-16.

After discussing some other matters, the trial judge took a brief recess to allow both attorneys to conduct further research in support of their positions. R. 51, l. 17 – 52, l. 25. After the break, the solicitor referred the trial judge to Rule 410(4), SCRE, which prohibits the use of a statement made to a prosecuting attorney during plea negotiations. R. 53, l. 17 –

55, l. 12. When asked what “exactly” Brown allegedly said, the solicitor said that she understood his statement to be “Can you help me with a plea, I want to plead guilty.” R. 55, ll. 15-19. She said that “gist” of the conversation was “I don’t want to plead guilty to this charge because this charge carries life but if there is something else that doesn’t carry life, I can plead guilty.” R. 55, l. 20 – 56, l. 7. The judge noted that if that were case, then the defendant would be pleading now.⁶ R. 56, ll. 8-9. Defense counsel clarified that Martin’s notes actually indicate: “Brown said he was not going to fight the DNA. Brown wanted to know if he could be charged with something less serious. He said he planned on trying to plead to this charge.” R. 56, l. 24 – 57, l. 4. The notes do not contain a direct quotation from the Brown, but rather Martin’s interpretation of what was said. Defense counsel argued that even if Brown was mistaken in speaking about a plea with law enforcement rather than the solicitor, the alleged statement should still be excluded. R. 57, ll. 5-9. The trial judge ruled that defendant’s statement that he planned to plead guilty to the charge was admissible. R. 57, ll. 10-14. He also ruled that the statement “DNA will convict me” was admissible, but could not be related to the fact that Brown refused to submit himself for a DNA test. R. 58, ll. 5-11.

Testimony at Trial

Attempted Robbery and Initial Officer Response

At trial, the Chuck E. Cheese employees testified consistently that while Kadeshia and Kyrie were cleaning the salad bar, a man entered the Chuck E. Cheese. R. 128, l. 1-18; R. 143, ll. 7-23; R. 145, ll. 10-20; R. 233, ll. 13-25; R. 235, ll. 12-17. As shown on the

⁶ The trial judge was alluding to the State’s plea offer of a recommended fifteen year sentence in this case, conditioned on Brown’s entry of a guilty plea to a case in Lexington, with a recommendation of fifteen to thirty years there. See R. 6, l. 3 – 9, l. 15.

surveillance video, the suspect was an African-American man wearing dark clothing including a hoodie, white shoes, a red bandana, a dark wig, black glasses, and a mustache. R. 129, l. 16 – 130, l. 4; R. 144, l. 1 – 145, l. 9.; R. 234, ll. 1-23; R. 235, ll. 1-2; R. 237, ll. 22-25. Kyrie testified that the man told him to “come here” and then to turn around. R. 147, l. 9 – 148, l. 1. He complied and put his hands up, after which he could feel the gun directly in the center of his back. R. 148, ll. 2-13. The suspect told him to walk to the back, but when they entered the kitchen and saw the manager, the suspect pushed Kyrie into the wall and ran out the front door. R. 149, l. 20 – 150, l. 17; R. 151, ll. 11-13. Toward the end of his direct examination, when asked if the suspect said anything, Kyrie testified that he said “take me to the money.” R. 154, ll. 14-18. However, he later admitted that he did not mention that in his written statement. R. 160, ll. 7-10. He also admitted that his written statement indicated that the bandana was tied around the suspect’s neck. R. 159, ll. 14-15. Kadeshia did not hear the suspect say anything, but did see him place a gun against Kyrie’s back before she ran into the kitchen and alerted the manager, Kennedy-Martin, of the intruder. R. 128, ll. 16-18; R. 129, ll. 9-10; R. 130, l. 21 – 131, l. 24; R. 132, ll. 20-21.

Kennedy-Martin testified that though Investigator Martin contacted Kennedy-Martin regarding obtaining surveillance videos a few days after the incident, he did not ask Kennedy-Martin any questions about the incident itself. R. 239, l. 19 – 241, l. 13. Kennedy-Martin also said that “enough” of the suspect’s face was showing, but he was unable to identify Brown in a photographic lineup a few months after the incident. R. 237, 9-17; R. 241, l. 14 – 242, l. 5. Kadeshia testified that she did not “get a good look” at the suspect, while Kyrie had the most interaction with the suspect and saw him face-to-face. R.

135, ll. 10-11; R. 148, l. 18-19; R. 154, l. 24 – 155, l. 6. Neither of them was shown any line-up and neither identified Brown through an in-court identification.

Deputy John Sullivan was the first officer to arrive on the scene. He testified that after meeting with Kennedy-Martin, Kyrie and Kadeshia, he was shown surveillance footage from an external camera at the establishment showing the suspect run from the front door of the establishment toward the El Toro club.⁷ R. 80, l. 10 – 81, l. 9; R. 82, ll. 16-25; R. 104, ll. 10-20. He could see on the video that the suspect was wearing a brown female wig, possibly a fake mustache, a red bandana around the neck, eyeglasses, white shoes, dark jeans with a hole, a dark-colored jacket, and a dark sweater underneath. R. 97, l. 10 – 98, l. 12. Sullivan requested assistance of a K-9 officer, who responded to the scene and located a wig and red bandana on the side of the El Toro club.⁸ R. 83, l. 15 – 84, l. 3; R. 112, l. 21 – 113, l. 7; R. 115, l. 1 – 116, l. 12. Though the K-9 unit continued to follow the scent, it was eventually lost in a parking area. R. 116, l. 13 – 117, l. 7.

A suspect was temporarily detained by officers on the night of the incident near the adjacent gas station. He was wearing dark clothing and waving down a passerby. R. 89, ll. 3-7. Sullivan testified that the manager, Kennedy-Martin, initially said that he “might be the guy.” R. 89, ll. 8-9; R. 94, l. 3-12. Kennedy-Martin said that it was Kyrie who “pointed out” the man at the gas station as a possible suspect, not him. However, Kennedy-Martin implied that he also thought “that guy did look” like the suspect. R. 239, ll. 1-14.

⁷ There are 32 different camera angles, including interior and exterior cameras. R. 122, l. 25 – 123, l. 4; R. 125, ll. 3-13. However, the footage from the external camera was not available for later retrieval by law enforcement. R. 123, ll. 5-18.

⁸ Sullivan responded to the area where the items were located and took photographs of the area and the items. R. 84, l. 4 – 85, l. 20; State’s Ex. 3-5 (Photographs). He also collected and packaged the items for future testing. R. 86, l. 20 – 88, l. 5; R. 102, l. 22 – 103, l. 19.

According to Sullivan, Kyrie viewed the detainee also and said “that is the guy” but later recanted the identification. R. 94, ll. 13-16; R. 95, l. 5. Kyrie testified that he did not affirmatively say that he was “the guy.” Rather, he said that the glasses that the man was wearing were the same type worn by the suspect. R. 157, ll. 9-18. Sullivan confirmed the detainee’s alibi and let him go that night. R. 89, ll. 9-24; R. 94, ll. 20-25.

DNA Evidence

The bandana and wig were both sent for DNA testing, along with buccal swabs of Michael Roscoe⁹ and Appellant Brown. R. 252, ll. 9-16. The State’s DNA expert, John Barron, testified that he found no human DNA on the wig. R. 253, l. 18 – 254, l. 1. On the bandana, however, he found one major contributor, one minor contributor, and one place with 5 alleles indicating a third contributor. R. 254, l. 2 -258, l. 16. He testified that only the major contributor was enough to be compared to the database. R. 258, l. 17 – 259, l. 4. A DNA match came back to Brown, which he also confirmed with the buccal swab obtained from Brown. R. 259, ll. 5-18. He also tested Michael Roscoe’s buccal swab and excluded him as a match to both the major and minor contributor DNA collected from the bandana. R. 264, ll. 17-23. On cross-examination, Barron conceded that his analysis does not tell you when the DNA was left on the article of evidence and admitted that different individuals “slough off” skin cells at different rates. R. 266, ll. 23-25; R. 268, ll. 4-19.

⁹ It is not clear from the testimony at the trial whether Michael Roscoe was the same man detained at the nearby gas station on the night of the incident or an entirely different suspect.

Martin's Initial Investigation and Review of Surveillance Footage

At trial, Martin testified that upon being assigned to investigate the incident at Chuck E. Cheese, he reviewed the notes of the responding officers and witness statements, attempted to retrieve video from the store surveillance cameras, reviewed the evidence collected, and submitted evidence for DNA testing. R. 164, ll. 3-20.

When asked about what witnesses Martin interviewed as a part of his investigation, he indicated that he spoke with Kennedy-Martin, who “didn’t have anything else to add” and who was unable to identify Brown in a photo line-up. R. 207, ll. 9-18; R. 212, ll. 10-19. Martin admitted that he did not meet with Kadeshia or Kyrie himself. Regarding Kadeshia, he claimed that she was difficult to get in touch with since she quit her job at Chuck E. Cheese and they did not have a good phone number for her. Martin acknowledged that “if [he] had dedicated more time in this case [he] would have” spoken to them, but he was “just moving on to the next [case].” R. 207, l. 19 – 208, l. 3; R. 211, l. 23 – 212, l. 6. Instead, he relied on the written reports that the witnesses prepared for their employer, even though he would not “usually” do that, since the police questioning would “probably” be more in depth. R. 208, ll. 4-23.

Martin finally obtained the surveillance footage from one of the Chuck E. Cheese cameras on January 22, 2013, and reviewed it, looking for anything distinctive about the individual. R. 165, l. 19 – 166, l. 6; R. 199, l. 23 – 202, l. 9. He said that you could see the suspect reaching for and pulling out his gun and a large, bulky band on his ring finger. R. 166, ll. 9-13. The surveillance video was played for the jury while Martin pointed out the suspect’s white flat shoes, a reflective area on the ring finger indicative of a bulky piece of jewelry, “trendy” plastic 1950s era glasses, a mustache, a red bandana around the neck, and

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