**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

NOV 30 2015

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-001715

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

MICHAEL ORLANDO BROWN, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 748-4785

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

First, the argument is not preserved for appellate review. By failing to specifically challenge admission of the offer to plead guilty under Rule 403, Appellant failed to preserve his Rule 403 argument for appeal. Similarly, by failing to raise a contemporaneous objection when the statement was actually introduced into evidence at trial, Appellant waived his right to pursue this argument on appeal. In any event, the trial court properly admitted Appellant's statement offering to plead guilty because the probative value significantly outweighed any allegedly improper prejudicial effect. For all of these reasons, Appellant's Rule 403 argument should be denied and dismissed with prejudice, and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

#### **Issue Preservation**

Appellant's Rule 403 argument is not preserved for appellate review for two reasons. First, it is not preserved because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003).

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence provide that:

Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, **and . . . [i]n case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection**, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context.

Rule 103, SCRE (emphasis added). This rule is generally in accord with prior South Carolina law which requires a contemporaneous objection with specific grounds to preserve an error for review. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011) ("An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error."); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994) (finding that a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for

appellate review); State v. Bailey, 253 S.C. 304, 170 S.E.2d 376 (1969) (holding that specific grounds are required and that a general objection preserves nothing).

Here, the only objection Appellant initially raised in regard to his statement offering to plead guilty was that it should be inadmissible because it was made as part of a plea negotiation. Although Appellant's counsel made the confusing comment that: "I would still argue it is prejudicial and probative value," she never specifically moved to exclude the testimony pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, and she never claimed the probative value was "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice" as set forth in the Rule. Appellant certainly never made a policy argument that admission of the statement would offend the presumption of innocence, the State's burden of proof, or common sense. As a result, the trial court was not given an opportunity to make a ruling on the main thrust of the argument Appellant is now presenting on appeal. Because the claims now being argued in this appeal were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court with sufficient specificity, they are not preserved for review. Rule 103, SCRE; Byers, *supra*; Hoffman, *supra*.

Second, Appellant's Rule 403 argument is not preserved because Appellant failed to renew his pretrial objection when the State actually elicited testimony about that statement during trial. Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion in limine does not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be

made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993).

“However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (emphasis added); see State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-57, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009) (“This exception is based on the fact that when the trial court’s ruling is not preliminary, but instead is clearly a final ruling, there is no need to renew the objection.”).

Here, five witnesses testified on behalf of the State between the trial court’s ruling and the time Investigator Martin was called to the stand. (R.p.79-p.157). The State proceeded to elicit detailed trial testimony from Martin regarding Appellant’s statement, including his offer to plead guilty. Martin described Appellant’s arrest, the administration of Miranda rights, Appellant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of those rights, and his statement offering to plead guilty. Appellant did not object to any of this testimony during the trial and did not ask the court to note or otherwise address his pretrial objections. (R.p.174-p.177). Although Appellant later attempted to renew all objections and motions after the verdict was rendered (R.p.345-p.348), this objection was too late to sufficiently preserve his pretrial challenge to admissibility of his statement for appellate review. Schumpert, supra. Thus, for both of these reasons Appellant failed to preserve his Rule 403 argument for appeal, and his conviction should be affirmed.

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Manning, 400 S.C. 257, 264, 734 S.E.2d 314, 317 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). A court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error that results in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 314, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App. 2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 463, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 575 S.E.2d 852 (Ct. App. 2003). To the extent this Court finds Appellant's Rule 403 argument was sufficiently preserved, it is nevertheless without merit.

### **Law / Analysis**

Appellant's offer to plead guilty was clearly relevant to prove his identity, particularly in light of his defense that someone else committed the attempted armed robbery. Indeed, as found by the trial judge, the statement constituted direct evidence of guilt in the form of a confession. As direct evidence, the statement's probative value significantly outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice. In fact, the only prejudice to Appellant came from the legitimate probative force of that evidence. It was the same

prejudice suffered by any defendant who freely, voluntarily and knowingly confesses to a crime. Thus, the trial court properly refused to exclude it under Rule 403, SCRE.

#### Relevance

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. In the Matter of Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 451, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002); Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”). Here, the identity of the individual who committed the attempted armed robbery was of consequence to the jury’s determination of guilt or innocence at trial, particularly where Appellant presented a defense that he did not commit the crime. (R.p.72-p.79; p.307-p.321). Appellant’s offer to plead guilty to a lesser offense had a tendency to make the determination of the identity of the attempted armed robber more probable than it would be without the testimony; therefore Appellant’s statement was relevant. Rule 401, SCRE.

#### Rule 403, SCRE: Probative Value

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000). “To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that

the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence." State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). Further, Rule 403, SCRE, requires "unfair prejudice" before the evidence will be excluded. "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis." Id. at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229. A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). The appellate courts review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment. Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 593. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 35, 538 S.E.2d at 256 (finding the trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning relevancy of evidence, and his decision will be reversed only if there is a clear abuse of discretion). "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Here, the undue prejudice Appellant appears to posit is that his unsolicited offer to plead guilty might make the jurors believe he was guilty. Indeed it might. In fact, this is precisely why the statement is probative. Appellant relies on a host of policy considerations which support the inadmissibility of statements made in true plea negotiations with a prosecuting attorney; however, all of those considerations are currently incorporated into Rule 410, SCRE, which only excludes statements "made in

the course of plea discussions with an attorney for the prosecuting authority.” Appellant argues these “policy considerations in favor of plea agreements and common sense weigh in favor of exclusion under Rule 403, SCORE.” (Brief of Appellant, p.24). The State submits just the opposite is true. Limiting the rule to discussions made with prosecuting attorneys demonstrates a clear legislative policy NOT to exclude confessions made to law enforcement officers or others who are not prosecuting attorneys, even when the defendant claims to be trying to negotiate a plea when he confesses. To the extent our Legislature wishes to expand the underlying policy considerations so that they cover any and all offers to plead guilty, including those to law enforcement officers, it can do so through legislative action. Otherwise, our current rules of evidence do not support suppression of this highly relevant evidence in Appellant’s case. As a result, the unfair prejudice claimed by Appellant simply does not exist. Instead, the probative value of the offer to plead guilty supports the trial court allowing it into evidence.

Appellant states: “it is not difficult to understand why Brown would have inquired about the possibility of a plea or stated that he intended to plead guilty at the time of his interrogation despite being innocent of the attempted armed robbery.” He goes on to argue: “This cannot amount to a confession, as it is not evidence of consciousness of guilt.” (Brief of Appellant, p.25). While these may be perfectly legitimate arguments to make to the jury regarding the weight of the evidence, they do not justify exclusion of relevant evidence from the jury’s consideration. Appellant has shown no abuse of discretion and no exceptional circumstances to warrant reversing the trial court’s discretionary ruling to admit his offer to plead guilty into evidence. Douglas, supra; Irick, supra. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

## II.

**Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in denying his pretrial motion to suppress his incriminating statements to the police on grounds they were obtained in violation of his Fifth Amendment rights to remain silent and to counsel is not preserved for appellate review because: (1) the grounds argued in this appeal were never specifically raised to the trial court, and (2) Appellant failed to renew his motion at trial when testimony about the statements was introduced. Additionally, to the extent this Court determines this issue is preserved, the trial court properly admitted Appellant's statements where they were made before he unambiguously invoked his Fifth Amendment rights.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting his statements to the police that "DNA will convict me" and that he wanted to plead guilty, because those statements were made after he had invoked his Fifth Amendment rights against self-incrimination and to counsel. He argues that because Investigator Martin was unable to provide a precise timeline of the interview, his testimony did not support the trial judge's finding that Appellant made the incriminating statements prior to the assertion of his constitutional rights. (Brief of Appellant, p.28). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument should be denied and dismissed on several grounds.

### **Issue Preservation**

Appellant's Fifth Amendment argument it is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). At the suppression hearing, Appellant's counsel argued that since Martin was unable to recall exactly when Appellant made the statement about DNA being able to convict him, it may have been made after Appellant "essentially invoked his Sixth Amendment Right to Counsel," and therefore should be excluded. Counsel said she was concerned the statement was made "outside

the parameters of Miranda,” but she never specifically mentioned the Fifth Amendment, Appellant’s privilege against self-incrimination, or Appellant’s right to remain silent. (R.p.41, line 23-p.47, line 23). Even after being given additional time to conduct research Appellant’s counsel did not say anything to the trial court about the Fifth Amendment. (R.p.57, line 17-p.58, line 11). As a result, the trial court was not given an opportunity to make a ruling on the main thrust of the argument Appellant is now presenting on appeal. Because the claims now being argued in this appeal were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court with sufficient specificity, they are not preserved for review. Rule 103, SCRE; Byers, supra; Hoffman, supra.

Appellant’s Fifth Amendment argument is also not preserved because he failed to renew his pretrial objection during trial. As noted above, five witnesses testified on behalf of the State between the trial court’s ruling on Appellant’s pretrial motion to suppress and the time Investigator Martin was called to the stand. (R.p.79-p.157). The State then elicited trial testimony from Martin regarding Appellant’s statement that DNA would convict him and his offer to plead guilty. Appellant did not object to any of this testimony during the trial and did not ask the court to note or otherwise address his pretrial objections. (R.p.174-p.177). Thus, as with Issue I above, this argument is not preserved.

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